1979

# The Board of Education of South Sanpete School District v. Don K. Barton et al : Brief of Defendant-Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a condemnation action brought by the Plaintiff-Respondent to obtain 24.49 acres of real property within the City of Manti and owned by Defendant-Appellant.

DISPOSITION OF CASE BY LOWER COURT

Following a jury trial in June 1978, the Defendant-Appellant was only awarded \$1,633.00 per acre for the 24.49 acres of land condemned and given to the Plaintiff-Respondent.

RELIEF ON APPEAL

Appellants seek reversal of the jury award of value and a new trial due to prejudicial irregularities and errors by the Court during the trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant will refer to the Court Record and the trial transcript as "R." and "Tr." respectively.

*Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.  
Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.*

Plaintiff-Respondent is the Board of Education of the South Sanpete School District (R. at 55) (hereinafter sometimes referred to as the "Board" or "Respondent"). Defendant-Appellant (hereinafter sometimes referred to as "Barton" or "Appellant") is a resident of Manti in Sanpete County, State of Utah (Tr. at 172), and was, prior to this condemnation action, the fee owner of 24.49 acres located within Manti City in Sanpete County. (R. at 56)

On or about October 11, 1977, the Board by resolution authorized the acquisition of Barton's 24.49 acres for the construction of a high school in Manti City and negotiated with the Appellant for its purchase. (R. at 2, 55) When the parties failed to agree on a price for the land in question, Respondent filed this action on October 25, 1977, to condemn the property. (R. at 1)

On January 23, 1978, the lower court granted Respondent's Motion for Immediate Occupancy and Respondent filed a check with the Court Clerk in the amount of \$36,735.00 representing 75% of Respondent's appraised value of \$48,980.00 for the property. (R. at 16-17)

At the conclusion of the trial which lasted three days, the jury found the value of the condemned property to be only \$40,000.00 (R. at 65), despite Respondent's claim in its Motion for Immediate Occupancy that the property was worth nearly \$50,000.00. Judgment awarding that sum to the Appellant was entered June 12, 1978, and a final order of condemnation was entered on July 10, 1978. (R. at 77-79 and 82-83) Thereafter, this appeal was taken.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE JURY VERDICT SHOULD BE REVERSED DUE TO PREJUDICIAL ERROR IN THE LOWER COURT.

A. The trial court erred in permitting Respondent to introduce testimony surrounding the sale of land to the L.D.S. Church after determining that such transaction was not relevant.

Appellant Barton called as an expert witness Mr. Marcellus Palmer, a licensed real estate appraiser. (Tr. at 36) Mr. Palmer testified that in his expert opinion this Barton property in Manti City was worth \$6,600.00 per acre. Including the agricultural building improvements, the property has a fair market value of \$166,084.00. (Tr. at 102, 109) Mr. Palmer's opinion was based on six comparable transactions within the Manti City area.

In addition to these comparables and also as a basis for his expert opinion, Mr. Palmer attempted to show the comparability of a sale of land from Grant Cox to the local L.D.S. Church. (Tr. at 100-101) Mr. Palmer testified that the Church paid \$10,000.00 for one acre of land located near the Defendant's property. (Tr. at 100) Upon the objection of Respondent, the Court precluded the witness or counsel from presenting testimony as to the comparability of this sale. (Tr. at 100-102) Yet the Court permitted cross examination of Mr. Palmer by Respondent's counsel regarding this sale. When Appellant thereafter attempted to cross examine the Board's appraiser regarding this transaction, Appellant was precluded by the Court:



THE COURT: Now, I've heard enough of that. Now, let's go onto something else. I think I've heard enough about this, so let's go onto something else now. The record should indicate that this sale is not relevant in these proceedings, so let's go onto another question. (Tr. at 270)

The following day when Court and counsel met in chambers, the Board requested permission to call a Mr. Wilbur Cox who was the L.D.S. stake president and had dealt with Grant Cox, the seller, regarding the Church transaction. (Tr. at 282) Appellant objected since Mr. Cox was not listed by counsel as a witness on the witness lists exchanged five days prior to trial. Other witnesses that Appellant had tried to call had been excluded for that reason. (See Tr. 152.) Also, Plaintiff's only "rebuttal witness," Mr. Grant Cox, the seller of the land to the Church, was in Salt Lake City and not available to testify on that day. (Tr. at 282-283) In the alternative, Plaintiff's counsel requested a continuance in order that the testimony of Grant Cox might also be made available to the jury. (Tr. at 283)

The Court noted Plaintiff's objections but denied them both. Completely contrary to his previous ruling that the sale was "not relevant," the Court allowed Wilbur Cox to testify and stated:

THE COURT: Your objection's noted and the motion to reopen the record for this purpose is allowed. The record should further indicate that the Court has had personal knowledge of this sale and is of the opinion that it would not be proper to leave the jury with this set of facts at this time and that to refuse to allow a clearing up of the record as to that comparable sale would be reversible error and the Court is of the opinion that it would be proper and fair to allow the evidence and it would be improper not to allow it. (Tr. at 283)

Thus, after determining that such transaction was not relevant, the trial court, over objection by Plaintiff's counsel,

allowed the testimony of Wilbur Cox. (Tr. at 282-285)

After emphasizing his prominent community and religious position as the local stake president, Mr. Wilbur Cox was permitted to give hearsay testimony that the seller, Grant Cox, had certain religious and tax motives for selling the property to the L.D.S. stake, without even requiring that Mr. Grant Cox testify as to his motives. (Tr. at 286-297)

Plaintiff submits that the effect of the above chain of events at trial had a prejudicial impact on the jury. The Court, during Appellant's presentation of witnesses, ruled in front of the jury that the sale to the "Church" was "not relevant in these proceedings" and cut off Appellant's right to go into the matter further. (Tr. at 270) Later, because of his "personal knowledge" of the sale, the Court permitted Respondent to present the authoritative testimony of the local ecclesiastical leader, a "surprise" witness, who testified as to the intent and motives of another without allowing Appellant the opportunity to rebut the same.

The Court's comments, both in the presence of the jury and in chambers, illustrate an abuse of discretion which resulted in substantial prejudice to the Appellant. Not only was Appellant unable to go into the matter fully during his case in chief, but was also later prohibited from rebutting the testimony of Mr. Wilbur Cox when the Court reopened the issue because of its "personal knowledge" of the sale.

The whole chain of events prevented Appellant from getting out all the facts. It not only unfairly allowed the Respondent

to "correct" the record, but resulted in prejudicing the jury against Appellant and his claims and "colored" the jury's view towards the entire matter.

B. The trial court erred in refusing to allow testimony of Dee Ogden, the Board's appraiser, as to the nature of his employment.

The trial court, by limiting the scope of examination, precluded Appellant from introducing the expert testimony of Mr. Dee Ogden, a real estate appraiser who had made an appraisal of the property for the School Board. (Tr. at 278)

In its case in chief, the Board presented the testimony of two appraisers. (Tr. at 188, 248) Mr. Gregory E. Austin testified that, in his opinion, the subject land was worth only \$1,000.00 per acre or \$27,500.00 with improvements; and Mr. Joseph Dan Cloward testified that, in his opinion, the land was only worth \$1,250.00 per acre or \$30,612.50. (Tr. at 206, 252-253)

Appellant thereafter determined to call Mr. Dee Ogden, who had made an appraisal of the property for the Board, as a rebuttal witness. (Tr. at 278) Mr. Ogden had obviously not been called by the Respondent School Board because his opinion as to the value of the property was far greater than that of either Mr. Austin or Mr. Cloward. (Tr. at 278) Upon the objection by the Board to testimony of Mr. Ogden, Appellant made a proffer of proof that Mr. Ogden, if called as a witness for Appellant landowner, would testify that he had been hired and paid by the Respondent to appraise the subject property. (Tr. at 278) The Court sustained the objection of Respondent to that testimony and ruled that Mr.

Ogden could not testify as to the fact that he had been retained by the School Board and paid a fee to appraise the property. (Tr. at 278)

Although the Court ruled that Mr. Ogden could give an appraisal on the value of the property, the Court's ruling in effect stripped the Appellant from the real value of Mr. Ogden's testimony which may have partially offset the aura of "impartiality" of the Board in dealing with Appellant. It is obvious that Mr. Ogden's appraisal was higher than Respondent's other two appraisers because he wasn't called by Respondent to testify and because Appellant wanted to put him on the stand. Since Appellant's only appraiser had valued the property approximately six times higher than the two appraisers called by the Respondent, it would only have been fair to permit Mr. Ogden, who would have given an "in-between" appraisal, to testify for whom he had done the appraisal.

The jurors had a right to consider as evidence the fact that the Respondent School Board had hired an appraiser and decided not to use him as a witness at the trial because his appraisal was more than the Board's other appraisers. Evidence as to the nature of employment of an expert witness is probative in weighing his testimony, particularly where the "credibility" of the evidence appeared to be a major issue at the trial. Failure to allow such testimony was reversible error and prohibited this jury from considering all relevant facts in the case.

C. The lower court erred in refusing to allow testimony of Morgan Dyreng.

Another instance during the trial where prejudicial error

occurred was the Court's refusal to allow the testimony of Mr. Morgan Dyreng. Mr. Dyreng was the owner-seller of an entire city block, consisting of five acres, located within Manti City which was sold to the Respondent School Board in December of 1977. (Tr. at 74) The purchase price paid by the School Board was \$7,000.00 per acre. (Tr. at 178)

When Appellant's appraiser began to testify concerning that purchase of the five acres as a "comparable sale" which had been considered by him in his appraisal, the School Board objected on the basis of the competency of that sale as evidence and requested permission to call a witness in support of the contention that the sale was not "voluntary." The jury was excused and the School Board then called its own Superintendent, Mr. Ronald E. Everett, who testified that he had mentioned to the seller (Mr. Dyreng) the possibility of a condemnation suit during the negotiations. (Tr. at 75)

In rebuttal to Mr. Everett's testimony, Appellant wanted to call Mr. Dyreng himself to testify that the five-acre sale for \$7,000.00 an acre was not "under threat of condemnation" but was, in fact, an arm's length transaction and sold for a fair price. (Tr. at 81) Appellant further argued that the School Board had not met its burden of showing that the sale was as a result of condemnation pressure and thereby not relevant herein. (Tr. at 83)

Appellant's position was and now is that simply having the power to condemn does not mean that every sale to an entity with power of eminent domain is "under the threat of condemnation."

(Tr. at 83-84) The School Board urged that it was "the power to condemn" (Tr. at 83) which colors the sale and makes it involuntary and hence not relevant in the case. (Tr. at 83)

Prior decisions of this Court establish that Appellant was correct. The mere fact that an entity has the power of eminent domain does not exclude any sale to such entity as a "comparable sale" on the basis that it is a forced sale. For example, in Salt Lake City v. Lewis, 30 Utah 2d 462, 519 P.2d 1344 (1974), this Court held that evidence of a sale to Utah Power and Light Company was permissible as a comparable sale even though the utility had the power of eminent domain. The Court observed that such a sale does not prohibit the circumstance as being one from a willing buyer to a willing seller. 519 P.2d at 1345.

Nevertheless, the trial judge herein denied Appellant's request to call Mr. Dyreng to the stand to explain that the sale was not "under threat of condemnation." The Court said:

THE COURT: I've heard enough. It's the Court's opinion that the sale would be in contemplation of condemnation. The Court will not allow the testimony regarding the sale.

MR. BUSHNELL: I have something else I'd like to take up outside the jury.

THE COURT: I'm going to take the next step, while I have it in my mind and in view of that, it is the order of the Court that no one present in this Court shall make any further statements in the presence of the jury or in response to this trial concerning this sale. (Tr. at 85)

Thus, the result of that decision was to preclude Appellant from using that sale as a "comparable" or even to show by testimony of the owner-seller of the five-acre tract that it was a voluntary sale and thus a "comparable sale" for Mr. Palmer to consider.

Mr. Palmer was precluded from saying any more on the subject of that sale. The jury was prohibited from considering the fact that such similar property to Appellant's land had been purchased for \$7,000.00 an acre. Certainly such evidence concerning a tract comprising several acres should have been presented to the jury which finally awarded Appellant approximately \$1,500.00 per acre.

Although such error was prejudicial in and of itself, the prejudice was further compounded later in the trial by two separate events.

First, Respondent's counsel was later permitted to question the Appellant himself on cross examination about the sale of the five acres to the School District. (Tr. at 178-180) For example, the Court allowed the Board's attorney to ask the following questions:

Q: Would it surprise you to know that the appraisal for that land, for the land itself, was within five hundred dollars an acre of the same appraisal for your land?

A: I've been told that and it really bothered me.

Q: Would it surprise you?

A: It would really surprise me.

Q: Do you know that I have shown that appraisal to one of the counsel for this side of the table to demonstrate that and I would be happy to show it to you? The point simply is that for the land itself it was appraised at or near the same figure as your land was appraised; isn't that true?

A: I don't know because I haven't seen it. (Tr. at 179)

Thus, in effect, the Court allowed the Respondent to get into evidence the fact that its appraisal of the five-acre sale was close to its appraisal of the Appellant's property. This

was done despite the Court's earlier ruling and despite the fact that Appellant had been prohibited from putting in testimony as to the sales price of that land at \$7,000.00 per acre.

After the Court allowed Respondent to "reopen up" the issue, Appellant's attorney was later censured in front of the jury for trying to go into the same subject with Mr. Austin, one of the School District's appraisers. (Tr. at 210-211)

The second resulting prejudice was the position in which Mr. Palmer (Appellant's only expert witness) was left in the eyes of the jury. Without being able to testify as to the five-acre "comparable sale," he was left mainly with small acre-or-less comparables. The substantial prejudice occurred when the School District's appraiser belittled Mr. Palmer for relying on sales of very small tracts as comparables. For example, Mr. Austin testified in response to Appellant's question of comparability of two other sales with smaller sizes:

A. Well, that's just about everything, Brother. That's everything. There ain't no comparable. How can you compare one acre with twenty five acres? There's no way. No way in this world. I would get kicked out of the Institute for doing a thing like that, absolutely lose my designation. (Tr. at 231-232)

Such prejudicial comments resulted from the Court's ruling that Mr. Palmer's larger "comparable sale" was not to be considered and obviously created the impression with the jury that sales involving only small tracts of land had been used as comparables by Mr. Palmer.

Thus, the improper ruling of the trial court served to compound the prejudicial effects of the error of the trial court



in refusing to allow Mr. Dyreng to testify concerning his \$7,000.00 per acre sale to the School District:

1. The jury was precluded from considering it as a comparable sale;

2. The School Board was later permitted indirectly to get in evidence before the jury of a purported appraisal of property for a substantially lesser amount than what the property was actually sold for; and

3. Appellant's appraiser was put in a bad light as it looked as if he relied mainly, if not exclusively, on sales involving smaller tracts as his only comparable sales.

The jury could not help but be substantially influenced by such error, as the final verdict herein illustrates.

#### POINT II

#### CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF THE ERRONEOUS RULINGS IN THE LOWER COURT.

A trial court has considerable latitude in a condemnation case in deciding whether to admit certain evidence and testimony. State of Utah By and Through its Road Commission v. Wood, 22 Utah 2d 317, 452 P.2d 872, 874 (1969). However, despite the amount of discretion given to the trial judge to control the trial, that discretion is not limitless.

Although harmless and minor errors are bound to occur in some trials, when an error occurs which provides "at least some likelihood of a different result in its absence," the Supreme Court is justified in reversing the verdict. Harris v. Harris, 14 Utah 2d 96, 377 P.2d 1007, 1009 n.2 (1963). See, also, Salt

Lake County v. Kazura, 22 Utah 2d 313, 452 P.2d 869, 871 (1969);  
Wardell v. Jerman, 18 Utah 2d 359, 423 P.2d 485, 487 (1967);  
Paul v. Zions First National Bank, 18 Utah 2d 183, 417 P.2d 759,  
961, n.5 (1966); Eager v. Willis, 17 Utah 2d 314, 410 P.2d 1003,  
1005 (1966); and Hales v. Peterson, 11 Utah 2d 411, 360 P.2d 822  
(1961).

Furthermore, when a case is tried to a jury, the rulings on evidence need to be scrutinized on appeal more critically than in a trial to the judge only. Arnovitz v. Tella, 27 Utah 2d 261, 495 P.2d 310, 311-12 (1972); In Re Baxter's Estate, 16 Utah 2d 284, 288, 399 P.2d 442 (1965).

Appellant submits that rulings of Court during the trial, as discussed herein, were so substantial and prejudicial that Appellant was deprived of the opportunity of "a full and fair consideration" of the disputed issue and fair consideration of the disputed issues. See Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake City v. Barrutia, 526 P.2d 47, 51 (Utah 1974). See, also, Redevelopment Agency of Salt Lake City v. Mitsui Investment, Inc., 522 P.2d 1370, 1374 (Utah 1974).

The Supreme Court, in giving a trial judge latitude in deciding what evidence to exclude, has used the standard of "reasonable comparability" in the area of condemnation cases. State By and Through Its Road Commission v. Wood, *supra*, at 874. In Wood, the court observed that all parcels of property are not alike and cannot be identical. Thus, if another sale of land can be said to have any "probative value" on the price of the subject property, it should be admitted. The fact that there

are some differences between the comparable sale and the subject sale goes to the weight of the evidence and not to its competency. 452 P.2d at 874. Yet the trial court precluded Appellant on more than one instance of presenting testimony of the comparability of different sales of land.

The policy in condemnation cases is to permit all relevant evidence to establish the true fair market value of the condemnee's land. See Weber County Water Conservancy District v. Ward, 10 Utah 2d 29, 347 P.2d 862 (1959). Therein the court indicated that adequate opportunity should be given the landowner to make certain he receives the fair market value of his land inasmuch as he is being forced by the State's police power to forfeit his property. This Court stated that it was error for the lower court to refuse to allow the landowner to testify as to the price he paid for the land 6 1/2 years earlier. The Court held that any probative information should be admitted. Differences in comparability, if any, go to the weight of the evidence rather than its admissibility:

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