1979

The Board of Education of South Sanpete School District v. Don K. Barton et al : Brief of Plaintiff-Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The difficulty was that the first error above mentioned opened the way for what followed; but the door having been opened, and Peterson therefore having necessarily testified as to what was in effect an admission, the plaintiff must be permitted to rebut it. (49 P.2d at 962).

Thus the testimony of Wilbur Cox was properly allowed to explain to the jury the circumstances surrounding the Cox gift-sale, even though that transaction could not be used as a comparable sale.

In cross-examining Wilbur Cox, defendant rehearsed the Cox gift-sale transaction thoroughly and in considerably greater detail than on direct examination, pursuing

questions not raised on direct examination, such as hearsay conversations (Tr. 289) about the terms of the agreement, a description of the documents involved, the identity of persons privy to the negotiations, whether the witness considered the land to be actually worth \$10,000 per acre (Tr. 294 lines 9-18), and so forth. It is written in 5A CJS Appeal and Error § 1735 at 1032 (1958) that:

Error in admitting evidence which has been presented by or on behalf of one party is cured where practically the same evidence or evidence having essentially the same probative effect is afterward . . . elicited on cross-examination. . . .

2.6 The court did not improperly fail to require Grant Cox to testify, nor did the court restrain defendant from rebutting Wilbur Cox's testimony.

Defendant states in his brief that the court permitted Wilbur Cox to testify about Grant Cox's religious and tax motives "without even requiring that Mr. Grant Cox testify as to his motives," (defendant's brief at 5). The defendant complains further that the court prohibited him "from rebutting the testimony of Mr. Wilbur Cox." (Id.) The record shows, however, that Wilbur Cox did not testify about Grant Cox's tax motives (Tr. 288) and that testimony about religious motive was elicited by defendant on cross-examination (e.g. Tr. 293).

The court did deny a continuance requested by defendant who claimed that Grant Cox was out of town, that

Grant Cox was the only witness who could rebut Wilbur Cox's

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

testimony, that defendant anticipated what Wilbur Cox's testimony would be, and that there was nothing in the record which supported the judge's remark that the contract involved in the Cox gift-sale could be produced in court. (Tr. 283-84)

Utah Rules of Civil Procedure 40(b) provides:

If the motion [for continuance] is made upon the ground of the absence of evidence, such motion shall also set forth the materiality of the evidence expected to be obtained and shall show that due diligence has been used to procure it. The court may also require the party seeking the continuance to state, upon affidavit or under oath, the evidence he expects to obtain. . . .

The defendant did not state what material evidence he hoped to obtain from Grant Cox. Although the record did not show at the time of the judge's ruling that there were documents which might be obtained bearing upon the issue, the defendant subsequently elicited testimony from Wilbur Cox that there were documents in escrow in Manti Bank bearing on the transaction (Tr. 289,295).

Nowhere does defendant say, either now or at trial, that the testimony of Wilbur Cox is not truthful; nowhere does he say that the testimony of Grant Cox would correct errors in the testimony of Wilbur Cox. Instead he insists that it "colored" the jury's view of the case. This falls woefully short of a showing of prejudicial error; an attack upon a judgment and verdict must show an error which is substantial and prejudicial, in the sense that there is a reasonable likelihood that in its absence, the result would

have been different. Simpson v. General Motors Corp., 24 Utah 2d 301, 470 P.2d 399 (1970). Defendant has shown neither error nor prejudice, and his attack should fail.

III

THE COURT PROPERLY PREVENTED OGDEN FROM TESTIFYING ABOUT HIS EMPLOYMENT

The end of the first day of trial defendant called Dee Ogden as a witness. Plaintiff approached the bench and represented to the judge, out of hearing of the jury, that Mr. Ogden had been retained by the plaintiff School District as an appraisal witness and had been paid a fee for his appraisal, but that the School Board had chosen not to call him as a witness at the trial. Therefore, the plaintiff moved the court for an order:

To prevent Mr. Ogden from, in any way, testifying or the defendant landowner from asking the witness that his appraisal was made for the School Board, or that Mr. Ogden was paid a fee. . . . (Tr. 279)

The court further explained his ruling as follows:

The motion is granted and it looks to me like it would not be proper and I think I would be committing prejudicial error to allow this to go in. You can call him for an appraisal but not to give testimony that he was employed by the School District or make any reference to the School District's paying him so you may get his appraisal, but that's the limit of it, Mr. Ogden. (Tr. 271,280)

The employment of Dee Ogden by the school district was irrelevant and immaterial to the issues of the case. The defendant proposed to put Dee Ogden on as an appraiser; the

issue to which his testimony would have been relevant was
*Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services
Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.
Machine-generated OCR may contain errors.*

the fair market value of defendant's property. It made no difference to the fair market value of the property whether the District had employed Ogden. Utah Rules of Evidence, 1(2). A party may have consulted with many experts prior to trial; what defendant proposes to do is to find the expert in that group consulted by plaintiff whose testimony will be most to defendant's liking, and then introduce the testimony, claiming in the hearing of the jury that the witness is really plaintiff's, but plaintiff has tried to conceal the evidence from the jury. Plaintiff may have quite legitimate reasons for not using the expert, e.g. doubts about his competence, but will have difficulty persuading the jury of them. Under these circumstances, the question of a witness's prior employment is a prejudicial, collateral matter and thus the trial court's ruling can be sustained simply because the proposed evidence was not relevant.

Defendant suggests that Ogden's credibility was in issue. It would have been, had Ogden been called to the stand, but defendant never called him. Furthermore, even if Ogden had been called as a witness, the court had power to stop defendant from introducing evidence about his prior employment on the grounds that the evidence went to his credibility.

Under the common law, it would not have been possible for defendant to call Dee Ogden and then impeach him by showing his bias by evidence of his employment by a

party. McCormick on Evidence, § 40 N.96 (2d Edition, 1972).

Part of the rationale for this common law rule was that:

The party, by calling the witness to testify, vouches for his trustworthiness. McCormick, supra, § 38.

In Utah the rule against impeaching one's own witness has been modified by Utah Rules of Evidence, 20 and 45, which provide as follows, in pertinent part:

Subject to Rules 21 and 22, for the purpose of impairing or supporting the credibility of the witness, any party, including the party calling him may examine him and introduce extrinsic evidence concerning any statement or conduct by him and any other matter relevant upon the issues of credibility. (Utah Rules of Evidence 20).

This broad abrogation of the common law rule is somewhat modified by Utah Rules of Evidence 45(b) which states:

Except as in these rules otherwise provided, the judge may in his discretion exclude evidence if he finds that its probative value is substantially outweighed by the risk that its admission will . . . (d) create substantial danger of undue prejudice or of confusing the issues or of misleading the jury. . . .

To determine whether the judge properly exercised the discretion conferred on him by Rule 45, we should examine the record to see whether any arguments were made to him by the defendant at the time he made his ruling which would clearly support the contention that he acted erroneously. There were no compelling considerations mentioned by defendant in his argument to the trial judge. (Tr. 279,280)

Furthermore, the record does not support the claim of defendant that Ogden would have given an in-between

appraisal. The record is devoid of any evidence or representation as to what the appraisal of Ogden would have been. Assuming that Ogden would have given an appraisal higher than that of the other witnesses called by plaintiff, the evidence offered by Ogden presented a double edged sword to the defendant. If Ogden was called as an expert and his relationship to the district was not disclosed, his evidence could simply discount that of Marcellus Palmer who gave his opinion that the property was worth \$6,600 an acre, or that of the owner, who stated in his opinion the property was worth \$8,000 an acre. On the other hand, if the opinion was in the middle ground and it were revealed to the jury that Ogden was in fact an employee of the plaintiff and that his appraisal was higher than that of plaintiff's other appraisers, then the jury might be confused as to whose witness Ogden was and conclude that the plaintiff contended that the value of the property was that given in Ogden's appraisal. It is submitted that this latter state of facts was what the defendant sought to bring about by calling Ogden as a witness.

In any event, the question of Ogden's being an employee of the plaintiff Board could not have added clarity to this situation but would have only confused the jury. By calling Ogden as an expert, the defendant would then have vouched for his credibility and should not have been in a position to need evidence about his credibility, not even to establish the partiality of plaintiff. It is presumed in

lawsuits that the parties are not impartial. Indeed, at common law the parties were disqualified from testifying because of their natural bias. The adversary relationship of parties is still a fundamental assumption of our legal system. Thus, the prior employment of Ogden was irrelevant and prejudicial and the court should affirm the trial court's order excluding it.

IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED THE APEX SALE

Defendant's expert witness offered to give evidence of a "full city block sold . . . By Apex Hatchery". (Tr. 70) Plaintiff offered to prove that the sale had been under threat of condemnation, and the court decided to hear the proof outside the hearing of the jury. (Tr. 72) The superintendent of the plaintiff School District, Ronald E. Everett, then testified that he had negotiated with Morgan Dyreng for the purchase of some lands of Manti-Apex Hatchery Co. which the School District had selected for the construction of an elementary school. During the course of the negotiations, Mr. Everett told Mr. Dyreng that it was the policy of the School District to negotiate the purchase, if possible, and then, if necessary, to acquire the property by condemnation. Mr. Everett testified as follows:

Q. (Mr. Bushnell) Was there any question about condemnation?

A. (Mr. Everett) Yes, there was.

Q. Tell us about it.

A. Well, on the second meeting with Mr. Dyreng, it was necessary for us to explain to him the policy of the Board that if peaceful negotiations were not complete, that we would condemn the property for the use . . . (Tr. 75)

On cross examination, defendant's counsel elicited that the School District had paid \$25,000 less for the Apex property than the appraisal (Tr. 77), and that Mr. Dyreng had requested some time to consider the matter further after Mr. Everett had mentioned the possibility of condemnation. Then, after a few days, Mr. Dyreng accepted an offer from the School District. (Tr. 79) Upon hearing this evidence the court ruled that the Apex sale was not admissible.

Defendant conceded in his argument that there were chicken coops on the Apex property (Tr. 83) which distinguished it from the defendant's land. The defendant testified in cross-examination, after volunteering that the Manti-Apex property had sold for \$7,000 an acre, that--

Q. (Mr. Bushnell) That had many, many improvements on it, didn't it?

A. (Mr. Barton) There's some old worn out chicken coops there, that they don't use any more.

Q. It had improvements on it. It wasn't vacant agricultural land, was it?

A. The land had been vacated because the coops that were on it were not in use. (Tr. 179)

Plaintiff believes that the court did not err with regard to evidence of the Apex sale, for the following reasons. (1) There is no basis in the record for the

conclusion that the court improperly refused to hear the testimony of Morgan Dyreng regarding the sale. (2) The Apex sale was under threat of condemnation, and therefore evidence of it was properly excluded. (3) Sale of improved property is not comparable for purposes of valuing unimproved property. The Apex sale involved a city block on which were constructed chicken coops, while most of defendant's land was vacant and only a "little section" of defendant's land had improvements on it. (Tr. 39, 102, Ex. 18 slide 3, Ex. 14, 21) And although defendant's land lay within the city limits, it had not been platted into blocks. Thus it was within the discretion of the judge to exclude evidence of the Apex transaction.

4.1 The Court did not improperly refuse to hear the testimony of Morgan Dyreng

After Ronald E. Everett testified that the Apex sale had been under threat of condemnation, defendant argued that Morgan Dyreng should be called as a witness, stating--

MR. FRISCHKNECHT: I think if justice is done, [Mr. Dyreng] ought to be here . . . so we can see what he says about condemnation but, Your Honor, in lieu of that, as another alternative if you don't see fit to allow us to bring Mr. Dyreng in here tomorrow, then I would say that what Mr. Everett says is that they talked to him about condemnation and they say they'll go back to the Board and talk about it, and make up a resolution I think what . . . Mr. Everett says is enough to show that Mr. Dyreng looked at the situation and said, "Either I sell to them or I'm in a condemnation action." The only way we're going to know that is to have him here, Your Honor, and I would request that we be allowed to bring Mr. Dyreng in and have him respond

to it and, if not, I don't think
they've met the burden . . . (Tr. 81-82)
(Emphasis added)

Twice in the foregoing argument defendant's attorney offered the court an alternative to his request to produce Morgan Dyreng, in effect inviting the court to rule on the issue without hearing Dyreng. The defendant should not now be able to predicate error on the court's ruling without Dyreng's testimony. See, Meier v. Christensen, 15 Utah 2d 182, 389 P.2d 734 (1964)("The court's comments on the evidence were invited by plaintiff's attorney with no objection thereto whatever. So we cannot reverse this case on that account." 389 P.2d at 735)

Nowhere does the record show that the court explicitly ruled that Morgan Dyreng could not be called as a witness, as proposed by defendant. We are left to speculate what the court would have done if the defendant had called Morgan Dyreng as a witness to rehabilitate the Apex sale as a comparable. To save a question for review, it must be presented to the trial court and a ruling invoked thereon. Lovato v. Hicks, 74 N.M. 733, 398 P.2d 59 (1965). Defendant had a duty to pursue whether Dyreng could be called as a witness and obtain an order that he could not be before he can base a claim of error on the trial court's action, especially in the light of defendant's arguments in the alternative, inviting the court to rule without Dyreng's testimony. Lilenquist v. Utah State Nat. Bank, 100 P.2d 185, 190 (1940)("No ruling on [exemplary damages] was made

by the trial court, hence the question is not before us.") Where evidence is proposed and objected to and the court postpones ruling on its admissibility, and the proponent of the evidence fails to thereafter press his demand for a ruling on its admissibility, the evidence is deemed abandoned by its proponent. McElwain v. Schuckert, 13 Ariz. App. 468, 477 P.2d 754, 756 (1970).

Nor does the record show that defendant made known the substance of the testimony he expected from Morgan Dyreng sufficiently to raise an inference of error under Utah Rules of Evidence 5, which provides--

A verdict or finding shall not be set aside, nor shall the judgment or decision based thereon be reversed, by reason of the erroneous exclusion of evidence unless (a) it appears of record that the proponent of the evidence either made known the substance of the evidence in a form and by a method approved by the judge, or indicated the substance of the expected evidence by questions indicating the desired answers . . . (emphasis added)

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